STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1296-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAYTRELL K. FITZGERALD,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from an Amended Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered by the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl Presiding, Case No. 2016CF4475

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000729

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 ballc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

RECEIVED

08-24-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the involuntary medication provisions of Wis. Stat. §971.14 are unconstitutional because they do not comport with *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

The circuit court was not asked to address this issue and did not decide it. $^{1}\,$

2. Whether the circuit court's June 18th Order of Commitment for Involuntary Treatment violated Fitzgerald's constitutional right to substantive and procedural due process of law?

The circuit court held that the administration of involuntary medication was warranted under *Sell*. It was not asked, and did not decide, whether its order further violated Fitzgerald's right to procedural due process.

3. Whether the circuit court erred in ordering that Fitzgerald is entitled to only 45 days of sentence credit for the time he has spent in custody?

¹ A facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute is an issue of subject matter jurisdiction and cannot be waived. *Winnebago County v. Christopher S.*, 2016 WI 1, ¶4 n.6, 366 Wis. 2d 1, 878 N.W.2d 109.

The circuit court did not address this subject at the June 18th competency hearing, so the basis for its calculation is unknown.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Wisconsin appellate courts have not yet addressed the first two issues for review.² The resolution of them could dramatically change how circuit courts conduct pretrial competency proceedings. Pursuant to §809.22(2)(b) and §809.23, oral argument will be helpful for sorting through the ramifications of the decision, and publication will provide guidance to litigants, the bench, and the bar.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 5, 2016, the State charged Raytrell K. Fitzgerald with one count of possession of a firearm contrary to a harassment injunction in violation of §941.29(1m)g and §939.50(3)(g). The complaint alleged that Harbor Freight Tools had obtained a harassment injunction against Fitzgerald,

² The first issue for review was also raised in a petition for supervisory writ that has been pending in the Wisconsin Supreme Court since November 2017. See State ex rel. Latisha Craig v. Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Appeal No. 2017AP2110.

its former employee in Case No. 2016CV2114 (R1:3).³ It did not allege that Fitzgerald had access to a weapon or used a weapon in the incident at issue. But the injunction prohibited Fitzgerald from possessing a firearm until it expired and required him to surrender any firearms that he had, which was none. (R.1:4). The court set bail, which Fitzgerald paid, and he was released. (R.2-3).

First Competency Examination

On October 30, 2017, the court ordered a competency evaluation, and Dr. Deborah Collins filed a report finding Fitzgerald not competent to proceed. (R.9-11). She opined that he has schizoaffective disorder and that he lacked the capacity to understand the proceedings and to meaningfully assist in his defense. (R.11:3). She further opined that he could become competent within the permissible time frame "if provided with psychiatric treatment," and he should be referred for possible restoration through the Outpatient Competency Restoration Program ("OCRP"). (R.11:5).

Dr. Collins concluded: "Due to his symptoms of thought disorder, Mr. Fitzgerald is presently rendered substantially incapable of expressing or applying an understanding of the advantages or disadvantages of medication or treatment to his mental illness, a condition into which he lacks insight

 $^{^3}$ The record for *Harbor Freight Tools v. Raytrell K. Fitzgerald*, Milwaukee County Case No. 2016CV2114, is attached to the State's Complaint at R.1.

and does not acknowledge." (R.11:5-6). But she did not recommend any medication for him.

The court conducted a competency hearing on December 13, 2017. (R.38). Fitzgerald stipulated that he was not competent to proceed. He did not agree that he has schizophrenia. However, his doctor said that he did, so he was taking medication for it. (R.38:4-5). The court told Fitzgerald that Dr. Collins had recommended that he "undergo some tutoring." (R.38:3). It entered an order committing Fitzgerald to DHS's custody and requesting that he be assessed for OCRP. (R.12).

Second Competency Examination

Fitzgerald was admitted to OCRP on February 9, 2018. (R.14). On March 12, 2018, Dr. Robert Rawski filed a new report with the court. He noted that Fitzgerald had a history of schizoaffective disorder and that Fitzgerald said that he took medications for it daily. Dr. Rawski noted that "[t]here was no evidence of hallucinations, suicidal, or homicidal ideation. Cognition featured lapses in attention and concentration to questions at first pass. Intelligence appears to be below average." (R.16:3). Dr. Rawski further explained that Fitzgerald "does not appear to be acutely psychotic or manic at the current time, but exhibits cognitive deficits that may be the manifestation of his psychotic disorder, insufficiently treated symptoms of his psychotic disorder and/or side effects of medication, all of which may be superimposed upon below average intelligence." (R.16:3-4).

Dr. Rawski concluded that Fitzgerald was "less disorganized in thought compared to the description of his presentation two months ago with Dr. Collins" but he was still not competent to stand trial. He opined that Fitzgerald could become competent within the statutory period of time. (R.16:4). He agreed that Fitzgerald did not require inpatient hospitalization but recommended that he faithfully comply with OCRP and "remain compliant with currently recommended psychotropic treatment to keep his mental illness from interfering with his competency any further." (R.16:4).

On March 19, 2018, the court conducted a hearing on the report. Fitzgerald did not contest Dr. Rawski's report, so the court ordered him to continue with OCRP. (R.39:2).

Third Competency Exam

Two weeks later—April 5, 2018—OCRP wrote the court saying that Fitzgerald had missed numerous appointments, and he was no longer clinically appropriate for OCRP. (R.17).

On May 7th, the court held a status conference. Defense counsel explained that Fitzgerald had been scrambling due to a sudden cut in his Social Security disability benefits which jeopardized his living arrangement. He nevertheless remained in contact with his case manager, and he always called to say that he could not make his appointments. (R.40:2-3; App.141-142). He had resolved the disability benefits problems and had become financially stable, so defense counsel asked the court to allow him to continue with OCRP. The State agreed with this proposal. (R.40:4; App.143).

The court, however, did not. It said: "I can't just let some guy run around that may or may not be all there and suggest that, well, because he had this problem or that problem, that's okay." (R.40:6; App.145). "We're not going to play games with you, mister." (R.40:8; App.147). Fitzgerald, who is indigent, tried to explain his financial troubles. He had needed funds for bus fare to get to his appointments, but he had spent them on groceries. (R.40:7-10; App.146-149). The court told him he could walk. (R.40:9; App.148). He explained that he couldn't walk to the appointments. He assured the court that he had resolved his financial difficulties. (R.40:10-11; App.149-150). But the court held:

> You know, it may be perfect for you but not for me. I'm remanding him back to the Department of Health and Family Services for determination of whether or not he should be put into institutional care or whether or not he would be a candidate for community service knowing well that if the latter is the case, there will be no misses. There will be no excuses. (R.40:11-12; App.150-151).

Fitzgerald was remanded to Mendota on May 7th. (R.18; App.138). At that point, he was not under a

medication order, but staff at Mendota began trying medicate him. and he was declining to the medication. (R.20:3; App.134). On May 23rd, Dr. Ana a psychologist at Mendota, Garcia, filed her competency report, and concluded that Fitzgerald was not competent to proceed to trial, he was not competent to refuse medication, and he should be treated at an inpatient facility. (R.20:5; App.136).

Unlike Dr. Collins' and Dr. Rawski's reports, Dr. Garcia's report summarized third-party records from Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division and Aurora Hospital relating to treatment that Fitzgerald had received in 2010-2013, including allegations that he had behaved dangerously during that time period. (R.20:2-3; App.133-134). She did that Fitzgerald required involuntary not sav medication because he poses a current risk of harm to She opined that he "lacks himself or others. substantial mental capacity to understand the proceedings and assist in his own defense." (R.20:5; App.136). She also wrote: "treatment with antipsychotic medication is known to be effective in treating symptoms of psychosis, which is precluding his competence to proceed." (R.20:5; App.136).

Finally, Dr. Garcia acknowledged that "Mr. Fitzgerald demonstrated an understanding of the roles of courtroom personnel and the adversarial nature of criminal court proceedings, which will serve as a strong foundation for his understanding of court procedure." (R.20:5; App.136).

Involuntary Medication Proceedings

June 18, 2018, the court held On an involuntary medication hearing. The State called Dr. Garcia to testify and elicited the following facts from her. Fitzgerald had continued to exhibit indications of psychotic symptoms like responding to internal preoccupations, expressing disorganized thoughts, appearing paranoid and displaying an inability to discuss his charges in a reasonable way. When he stopped taking medication, these symptoms allegedly worsened. (R.41:5-6; App.108-109). She also said that he does not understand the need for medication, does not cooperate with taking medication, and has hidden medications in his cheek to avoid taking them. (R.41:6; App.109). She clarified that Mendota sought the ability to administer medication intramuscularly as needed. (R.41:6; App.109).

On cross-examination, Dr. Garcia admitted that she had no contact with Fitzgerald after May 23rd. Her interactions with him (including the competency evaluation) totaled about two and a half hours. She said that as a psychologist she cannot prescribe medication but that he had been prescribed the antipsychotic Seroquel during his admission. (R.41:7-8; App.110-111). When asked if she had ever in fact seen Fitzgerald on medication, she could not answer yes. In fact, she could not speak with certainty to a history of compliance or noncompliance with taking medication. (R.41:9; App.112). Dr. Garcia did not testify that Fitzgerald was dangerous and did not opine that he needed medication due to dangerousness.

Fitzgerald also testified. He stated that he has been misdiagnosed and expressed concern about the dosage of medication that Mendota tries to give him. In his opinion, it is too much. (R.41:11-12; App.114-115).

Then the court heard argument on the need for medication. The State urged the circuit court to order involuntary medication because **Fitzgerald's** symptoms allegedly had become worse, and he had been cheeking pills. (R.41:14; App.117). Defense counsel responded that the State could medicate Fitzgerald against his will only if he is dangerous or to restore competency to stand trial after proving the four factors required by Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166 (2003): (1) an important government interest is at stake; (2) involuntary medication will significantly further that interest; (3) involuntary medication is necessary to further those interests; (4) the administration of drugs is medically appropriate for Fitzgerald. (R.41:14-18; App.117-121).

The State had not requested the administration of involuntary medication based on Fitzgerald's alleged dangerousness, and Dr. Garcia had not testified that he was dangerous. Nevertheless, the court noted that her report had summarized thirdparty reports of dangerous and violent behavior by Fitzgerald back in 2010, 2011, and 2013. (R.41:23; App.126-127). As to his current behavior, the court noted that staff at Mendota described Fitzgerald as grossly disorganized, laughing to himself, agitated, calling peers names, pushing a staff person resulting in seclusion, and once flushing large amounts of toilet paper down the toilet. (R.41:24; App.127). The court held:

> All of those things that I've read into the record I think exhibit that Mr. Fitzgerald is dangerous, while not on prescribed medications, \mathbf{is} dangerous to himself or others. There is physical violence; however . . . so I think the State prevailed on that prong, but I think they've also prevailed on the second prong with regard to Sell, and that is that there is an important government interest at stake here and that is the fact that he is charged with a serious felony. It may be a status offense, but the fact is he is alleged to be carrying a gun while under a prohibition for carrying a gun . . . And so, therefore, that is in my opinion an important government interest, the furtherance of this felony.

> The fact that he does not take his medication is not facilitating him to be restored to competency. That is what this is all about so he can stand trial on whether or not he is guilty of this very serious offense; therefore, the fact that he's not taking his meds and has to be given them involuntarily does further that interest and I think it's also a necessary reason to further that interest. (R.41:24-25; App.127-128).

The court then signed a form Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) and an Amended Order of Commitment for Treatment to Competency. (R.21-22; App.101-102).⁴ This form Order permits the circuit court to order involuntary treatment based either on the defendant's "current risk of harm to self or others" or on the Sell factors. court authorized The circuit the involuntary administration of medication based upon the Sell factors, not on Fitzgerald's current risk of harm to self or others. (R.21; App.102). It also granted Fitzgerald "45 days of credit for pre-commitment incarceration." (R.21:1, App.103).

Thereafter, the circuit court held multiple "automatic stay" of to the hearings relating involuntary medication mandated by Scott, including a stay order. (R.42, R.43, R.44; R.24:13; App.153). Those proceedings generated a petition for supervisory writ and an opinion denying it, which is the subject of a pending petition for review. See Appeal No. 2018AP1214-W. (R.25, R.28). They do not address the June 18, 2018 Order or the issues raised in this appeal.

On July 17th, Dr. Ana Garcia filed a new request to treat Fitzgerald to competency with psychotropic medication. (R.30). The circuit court has not yet scheduled a hearing on the request.

⁴ The caption on the original Order misspelled Fitzgerald's name. The circuit court entered an Amended Order (just page 1) which corrected the caption.

ARGUMENT

I. Section 971.14's involuntary medication provisions do not comport with *Sell* and are thus unconstitutional.

A. Standard of review.

Wisconsin law presumes that a statute is constitutional. The party challenging the statute must prove that it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt and that it cannot be enforced under any circumstance. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶13, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. The United States Supreme Court, however, employs a more lenient standard. It requires the challenger to make only a "plain showing" or a "clear demonstration" that a statute is unconstitutional. *See United States v. Morrison*, 529 U.S. 598, 607 (2000); *National Federation of Independent Business et al. v. Sebelius*, 567 U.S. 519, 538 (2012).

The judiciary and the legislature are co-equal branches of government. One problem with the tougher presumption of constitutionality is that it "gives the legislature both the pen and the gavel over their own laws." Mayo v. WI Injured Patients and Families Comp. Fund, 2018 WI 78, ¶87, __ Wis. 2d__, 914 N.W.2d 678 (R.G. Bradley, J. concurring)(citing M. Burke. The David Presumption of Constitutionality Doctrine and the Rehnquist Court: A Lethal Combination for Individual Liberty, 18 Harv. J. L. & Pub. Pol'y 73, 90 (1994-15)). The weaker presumption restores the proper balance of constitutional power, "conserving the legislature's constitutional lawmaking function while reinstating the courts' roles as the "bulwarks of a limited Constitution against legislative encroachments . . ." Id., ¶90 (citing The Federalist No. 78 ¶17 at 469 (Alexander Hamilton)).

Mayo was a split opinion. Only three justices (Roggensack, Ziegler, Gableman) endorsed the tougher presumption of constitutionality. Two Justices (R.G. Bradley, Kelly) endorsed the weaker presumption. Justices A.W. Bradley and Abrahamson took no position on the issue. This Court should follow United States Supreme Court precedent and apply the weaker presumption, which requires only a "plain showing" or "clear demonstration" that a unconstitutional—especially statute is since Fitzgerald is arguing that §971.14 violates Sell and the federal constitution. See State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶19, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142 (when decisions from the federal and state supreme courts conflict, the court of appeals should follow the former).

B. The plain language of §971.14 does not comport with *Sell*.

All citizens have a protected liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs under the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, §1 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221-222 (1990); *State v. Scott*, 2018 WI

74, ¶44, 382 Wis. 2d, 914 N.W.2d 141; Wood, ¶17. While these drugs can have the rapeutic benefits, they can also cause serious side effects such as potentially irreversible neurological disorders that cause involuntary spasms of the body, especially around the face, an inability to sit still, and neuroleptic malignant syndrome, which can lead to cardiac dysfunction and death. Harper, 494 U.S. at 229-230. Consequently, the State may not treat an inmate with antipsychotic drugs against his will unless there is an "essential" or "overriding" state interest to do so. Otherwise, the State violates the inmate's right to substantive due process. Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 127, 135 (1992).

The State has an "essential" or "overriding" state interest in subjecting an inmate to involuntary treatment where he poses a significant danger to himself or others and the medication is in his medical interest. *Harper*, 494 U.S. at 1039-1040; *Riggins*, 504 U.S. at 135. In limited circumstances, the State may also have an "essential" or "overriding" state interest in medicating an inmate to competency so that he can stand trial. The United States Supreme Court explained:

> These two cases, *Harper* and *Riggins*, indicate that the Constitution permits the Government involuntarily to administer antipsychotic drugs to a mentally ill defendant facing serious criminal charges in order to render that defendant competent to stand trial, *but only if* the treatment is medically appropriate, is substantially unlikely to have side effects that

may undermine the fairness of the trial, and taking account of less intrusive alternatives, is necessary significantly to further important trialrelated interests.

This standard will permit involuntary administration of drugs solely for trial competence purposes in certain instances. *But those instances may be rare.*

Sell, 539 U.S. 166, 179-180 (2003). (Emphasis supplied). See also Winnebago County v. Christopher S., 2016 WI 1, ¶¶68-71, 366 Wis. 2d 1, 878 N.W.2d 109 (acknowledging Harper, Riggins, and Sell); Wood, ¶¶24-25 (same).

Sell lists four factors a court must consider before ordering a defendant to be treated to competency for trial, and it describes in detail the information a court must weigh in applying the factors:

"First, a court must find that *important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. (Emphasis in original). The court must consider whether the person is accused of a serious crime. If so, it must consider the State's interest in prosecuting the crime. "The defendant's failure to take drugs voluntarily may mean, for example, that he will be confined in an institution for the mentally ill, which would diminish the risks that he would be freed without punishment." The court should also consider the length of time the defendant has already

served and its interest in assuring the defendant a fair trial. *Id*.

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