RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-24-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1296-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAYTRELL K. FITZGERALD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AMENDED ORDER FOR COMMITMENT FOR TREATMENT (INCOMPETENCY) ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The first *Sell* requirement looks to the crime the defendant is charged with. If the defendant is accused of "a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property," the court may conclude that "*important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180.

Fitzgerald is charged with one count of possession of a firearm contrary to a harassment injunction, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(g). (R. 3.) The harassment injunction included firearms restrictions under Wis. Stat. §§ 813.123(5m) and 813.125(4m). (R. 1:1.) Under both sections, a court may prohibit a respondent from possessing a firearm if, "based on clear and convincing evidence presented at the hearing on the issuance of the injunction, that the respondent may use a firearm to cause physical harm to another or to endanger public safety."

The harassment injunction specifically required Fitzgerald to surrender any firearms he owned or possessed.

(R. 1:4, 10-11.) He informed the court in a Statement of Firearms form filed on April 11, 2016, that he had not owned or possessed any firearms for the previous six months. (R. 1:9.) Then, six months later, while the harassment injunction and firearms restriction was still in effect, Fitzgerald was found with a .40 caliber semi-automatic handgun in his possession. (R. 1:1.)

The court concluded that "there is an important government interest at stake here and that is the fact that he's charged with a serious felony. It may be a status offense, but the fact is he is alleged to be carrying a gun while under a prohibition for carrying a gun, and I recall the motion hearing that we had in this matter when the police approached and searched him " (R. 41:25.) This finding is supported by the record. The court entered the firearms restriction on the basis of "clear and convincing evidence" that Fitzgerald "may use a firearm to cause physical harm to another or to endanger public safety." Six months later. Fitzgerald carrying was a firearm. Under these circumstances, the offense was "very serious" and the State's interest in prosecution of this crime was very important. (R. 41:25.) The first Sell criterion is satisfied.

Second, the court must conclude that involuntary medication will "significantly further" these important state interests. Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. The court must both find that the medication is "substantially likely to render the competent to stand trial," and "substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere with the defendant's ability to assist counsel." Id.

Fitzgerald cites case law from other jurisdictions suggesting that, to satisfy the second *Sell* criterion, the State must produce evidence about dosages, duration of treatment, and definitive forecast of results. (Fitzgerald's Br. 23–24.) These cases are not controlling; *Sell* does not impose these

precise requirements to support its second criterion. See Sell, 539 U.S. at 181.

The court concluded that giving Fitzgerald his medication involuntarily furthers the important government interest in prosecuting this crime because his ongoing refusal to take his medications as prescribed "is not facilitating him to be restored to competency." (R. 41:25.) This conclusion was supported by Dr. Garcia's testimony that antipsychotic medication (Fitzgerald had been prescribed Seroquel) is the primary treatment for Fitzgerald's condition, schizoaffective disorder. (R. 41:8.) In her written opinion, Dr. Garcia specifically wrote that, for this reason, treatment with antipsychotic medication would likely restore Fitzgerald to competency. (R. 20:5.) "[W]e find psychotropic medication to help him better organize his thoughts, reduce the auditory hallucinations, and reduce the delusional beliefs." (R. 41:5.) Because Fitzgerald had been secreting his medicine instead of taking it as directed, his mental state had noticeably declined. (R. 41:5-6, 8-9.) See supra at 6-8. Therefore, the part of the second Sell criterion that involuntary medication is substantially like to render Fitzgerald competent to stand trial is satisfied.

The other part of the second criterion is that the involuntary medication is unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel. Here, the circuit court did not explicitly address this question. Dr. Garcia did not directly address the issue either. However, she did state in her examiner's report that the prescribed antipsychotic treatment for Fitzgerald included Benztropine, a medication used to treat the side effects of psychotropic medications. (R. 20:3.) Therefore, although the court did not directly address this question, the record implicitly shows that the prescribing physician built the mitigation of side effects into Fitzgerald's prescription.

Third, the court must conclude that "involuntary medication is necessary to further [the important governmental interests]." Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. That analysis must include a finding that there are no alternative, less intrusive treatments available likely to achieve the same results as drug therapy. Id. As part of the analysis, the court must also consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs, such as a court order backed up by the contempt power. Id.

The court concluded that the involuntary medication of Fitzgerald is necessary to further the State's important interest in this prosecution. (R. 41:25.) The court noted earlier in its remarks that Fitzgerald had been removed from the alternative OCRP program for failure to cooperate. (R. 41:22.) Aside from his OCRP absences, Dr. Garcia noted in her report that "[d]uring remediation sessions Mr. Fitzgerald was described as minimally engaged." (R. 20:3.) The court also noted that, while at Mendota, Fitzgerald "refused to attend competency groups," as Dr. Garcia reported in her examiner's report. (R. 41:24; 20:3.) Therefore, treatment without medication was not a realistic alternative for Fitzgerald. As for a less intrusive means for administering antipsychotic medication to Fitzgerald, voluntary medication had been attempted. But, because of Fitzgerald's refusal to take the medication voluntarily, this less intrusive means of administering the medication had failed. (R. 41:25.)

Fourth, the court must conclude that the drugs prescribed are "medically appropriate, i.e., in the patient's best medical interest in light of his medical condition." Sell, 539 U.S. at 181.

The court concluded that the medications Fitzgerald had been prescribed, the antipsychotic Seroquel and Benztropine, were medically appropriate. (R. 41:26.) The court noted that Dr. Garcia had reviewed the prescriptions prescribed by the psychiatrist, and said they were

appropriate. (R. 41:26.) Dr. Garcia testified that antipsychotic drugs such as Seroquel provide the primary treatment for schizoaffective disorder. (R. 41:8.) The "psychotropic medication . . . help[s] him better organize his thoughts, reduce the auditory hallucinations, and reduce the delusional beliefs." (R. 41:5.)

The involuntary medication order should be affirmed because it met the *Sell* test.

B. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.14(5)(am), requiring a statement by "a licensed physician," does not apply here.

Fitzgerald argues that the involuntary medication order did not comport with the statute because the statute requires an expert report from "a licensed physician," i.e., a psychiatrist, and Dr. Garcia was a non-physician psychologist. (Fitzgerald's Br. 26–27.) Fitzgerald is wrong because he is looking at the wrong part of the statute.

On May 7, 2018, the circuit court signed and filed an Order for Competency Examination by Department of Health Services. (R. 18.) Such an examination is governed by Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2). Section 971.14(2) requires examination by an "examiner," but does not require that the "examiner" be a psychiatrist or licensed physician. Dr. Garcia conducted the examination of Fitzgerald between May 17 and May 22. (R. 20:1–2.) At the conclusion of the competency examination, the examiner submits a written report. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3). Dr. Garcia submitted her written report on May 23. (R. 20.) After the written report is filed, the court shall hold a hearing on the report. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4). The court held the hearing on June 18. (R. 41) This set of procedures. which governed Fitzgerald's competency examination and hearing, do not require the participation of a psychiatrist or licensed physician.

Instead of these controlling provisions from section 971.14(4), Fitzgerald looks to Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(am). But that subsection has nothing to do with Fitzgerald's competency examination. Subsection (5)(am) does not come into play until after an incompetent defendant has been committed following the court's determination at a section 971.14(4) hearing that he "is not competent but is likely to become competent within the period specified10 in this paragraph." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a). After an incompetent defendant has been committed under subsection (5)(a), subsection (5)(am) allows the Department of Health Services to ask the court for a medication order. Such a medication request has nothing to do with the committed defendant's competency for trial, and is not initiated by either the court or the prosecution.

Subsection (am) provides in pertinent part as follows:

If the defendant is not subject to a court order determining the defendant to be not competent to refuse medication or treatment for the defendant's mental condition and if the department determines that the defendant should be subject to such a court order, the department may file with the court, with notice to the counsel for the defendant, the defendant. and the district attorney, a motion for a hearing . . . on whether the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment. A report on which the motion is based shall accompany the motion and notice of motion and shall include a statement signed by a licensed physician that asserts that the defendant needs medication or treatment and that the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment, based on an examination of the defendant by a licensed physician."

Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(am). A request by the Department under this subsection does require the participation of a

 $^{^{10}}$ See supra note 5.

licensed physician. That fact is irrelevant to this case, because Dr. Garcia's report was conducted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3), not § 971.14(5)(am).

III. Fitzgerald's procedural due process rights were not violated in this case.

The circuit court entered an order for the involuntary medication of Fitzgerald on the ground that he was mentally ill, charged with at least one serious crime, and that the involuntary administration of medication would help him regain competency for trial. (R. 22:1.) As shown above, this order was supported by the State's evidence at the competency hearing and in Dr. Garcia's expert report. (R. 20; 41.) At the hearing, the court stated that it was imposing the involuntary medication order to restore Fitzgerald to competency for trial. (R. 41:25.) There can be no question that the State's evidence was all directed towards this result. (R. 20; 41.)

Prior to stating that the purpose of the involuntary medication order was the restoration of Fitzgerald's trial competency, the court said that his involuntary medication would also be justified by his dangerousness to himself and others. (R. 41:25.) However, the court did not include this ground in the written order. (R. 22:1.)

Fitzgerald complains on appeal that his procedural due process rights were violated because he was not given an opportunity to contest the court's finding that he was dangerous. (Fitzgerald's Br. 27–29.) Fitzgerald did not preserve this issue for appellate review so it should not be considered by this Court. See State v. Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604–06, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997). It also fails on the merits.

Where a court's oral order is ambiguous and its written order is clear, the written order prevails. See Jackson v. Gray, 212 Wis. 2d 436, 442, 446, 569 N.W.2d 467 (1997). Here, the written order, which limits the justification for the

involuntary medication to trial competency, prevails over the court's oral remarks. Importantly, the Department of Health Services, which is the entity that will put the order into effect, is to base its actions on the order alone, not the circuit court's oral remarks. (R. 21:2.) The fact that the circuit court talked about Fitzgerald's dangerousness at the hearing has absolutely no effect on Fitzgerald's treatment henceforth or the constitutionality of the order being challenged.

This Court should not consider Fitzgerald's procedural due process argument because he has suffered no injury from the circuit court's statement about his dangerousness.

IV. Any remedy is limited to remand for new Sell hearing.

For relief in this case, Fitzgerald asks this Court to vacate the June 18, 2018, Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency). (Fitzgerald's Br. 31.) If this Court rules for Fitzgerald on one or more of the issues presented, the correct remedy is remand for further proceedings consistent with this Court's decision and opinion in this case. See Sell, 539 U.S. at 186; State v. Scott, 2018 WI 74, ¶ 49, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141.

V. Fitzgerald's complaint about the circuit court's sentencing credit determination is not ripe for review.

The defendant bears the burden of demonstrating that he is entitled to any sentence credit he might seek. State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶ 11, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516.

Wisconsin's sentence credit statute provides that "[a] convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). Where, as here, a court determines that a defendant is not competent but is likely with treatment

to become competent, it must suspend proceedings and commit the defendant to DHS custody for up to 12 months. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a)1. The days the defendant spends in commitment "are considered days spent in custody" for purposes of the sentence credit statute. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a)3. The days spent in an inpatient facility while undergoing a competency examination are also credited to the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a). Thus, if a defendant committed under section 971.14 is subsequently convicted and sentenced, the sentence imposed shall be reduced by all the time spent in commitment.

The circuit court indicated in its June 18, 2018 medication order that Fitzgerald was due 45 days' sentence credit. (R. 21:2.) Fitzgerald argues that this determination was erroneous because he was committed to DHS custody on December 13, 2017, and had therefore spent at least 188 creditable days in commitment prior to June 18, 2018. (Fitzgerald's Br. 29–30.) He requests a remand for "the proper calculation" of his sentence credit. (Fitzgerald's Br. 30.)

Fitzgerald has yet to be convicted or sentenced, but remains committed pursuant to section 971.14(5). (R. 44:2.) Therefore, the order for sentence credit is not ripe for review.

If and when Fitzgerald is tried and sentenced, any sentence credit calculation made prior to his trial will have to be recalculated. Assuming that he is convicted, Fitzgerald may well be entitled to sentence credit not only for the 188 days he claims to be due so far, but for additional time as well. See Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a)1.-3. (sentence credit available for time spent in custody while awaiting trial, being tried, and awaiting imposition of sentence); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a) (sentence credit available for time spent committed to a mental health facility for an inpatient mental examination). If he is not convicted, the sentence credit question will be moot. Further, if Fitzgerald never becomes competent to stand trial, it is possible that Fitzgerald will never be tried at

all. See State v. Garfoot, 207 Wis. 2d 214, 229, 558 N.W.2d 626 (1997) (defendant shall not be subjected to criminal trial if State fails to prove his competence by greater weight of credible evidence).

Because the sentence credit issue is not ripe for adjudication, this Court should decline to address it. State v. Armstead, 220 Wis. 2d 626, 628, 583 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1998). Fitzgerald does not articulate what hardship he will suffer if he waits for the sentence credit issue to be resolved when it has ripened, i.e., if and when he is sentenced after conviction.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that this Court affirm the order from which this appeal is taken.